In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

PAUL BIANE, et al.,

Defendant and Respondent.

CRC SUPREME COURT 8.25(b) FILED			
DEC 1 1 2012 Case No. S			
Frank A. McGuire Clerk			
Deputy			

Appellate District Division Two, Case No. E054422 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FSB1102102 The Honorable Brian McCarville, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Can a bribe offerer be charged with conspiracy to commit bribery, and aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe, where his conduct satisfies the elements of those crimes?
- 2. Can a private person be charged with aiding and abetting a criminal conflict of interest violation?

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Defendant Jeffrey Burum, a wealthy developer and managing partner of Colonies Partners, offered bribes to San Bernardino County public officials to settle a lawsuit on terms dictated by Burum. For his criminal plan to succeed, Burum needed three San Bernardino County supervisors to vote in favor of the lawsuit, so in addition to offering bribes to certain individuals, Burum enlisted the assistance of defendant James Erwin to obtain their collective cooperation in the bribery scheme. Burum and Erwin used a combination of threats, extortion, and inducements to wear down their resistance and secure the votes of Supervisors Bill Postmus and Paul Biane, and to get Chief of Staff Mark Kirk to influence Supervisor Gary Ovitt to vote in favor of the settlement. Each of those supervisors voted to settle the case for \$102 million, against the advice of all county attorneys and all private attorneys hired to represent the county. (CT 1-28.)

Between March and July 2007, Burum began paying the bribes by giving \$100,000 each to Postmus, Erwin, Biane and Kirk through phony political action committees. He also took Erwin on an extravagant jet trip and provided him with expensive gifts, which Erwin failed to disclose on his FPPC form 700. Erwin, Biane and Kirk did not disclose the \$100,000 bribes on their FPPC form 700's or on their income tax returns, all of which were filed under penalty of perjury. (CT 1-28.)

For these actions, on May 9, 2011, a special grand jury indicted Burum, Erwin, Biane and Kirk on 29 criminal charges. As pertinent here, defendants Burum and Erwin were indicted in counts charging them together with conspiracy (count 1, Pen. Code, § 182); bribery (counts 4 and 5; Pen. Code, § 165); asking for/receiving a bribe (counts 7 and 8; Pen. Code, § 86); and conflict of interest (count 11; Gov. Code, § 1090).

On August 19, 2011, the trial court partially sustained the defendants' demurrers. As pertinent here, the court sustained Burum's demurrer to counts 4, 5, 7 and 8 (and count 1, to the extent it was predicated on those crimes), on the grounds that as a matter of law, a person who offers a bribe cannot be charged with aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe. It overruled Erwin's demurrer on the same charges, finding that as the intermediary rather than the bribe offerer, there was no legal impediment to charging Erwin with aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe. The trial court overruled both demurrers as to count 11, holding that private persons can be charged with aiding and abetting a conflict of interest. (CT 261-281.)

¹ For his role in these events, Bill Postmus pleaded guilty to all charges in a previously filed case and agreed to cooperate with the prosecution.

The People appealed the trial court's ruling granting Burum's demurrer in part. Burum and Erwin filed petitions for writ of mandate/ prohibition, wherein Erwin challenged the court's denial of his demurrer on the bribery charges, and both challenged the court's denial of their demurrers on the conflict of interest charge. The matters were consolidated. Applying a narrow doctrine of federal common law, Wharton's Rule, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's ruling granting Burum's demurrer as to counts 4, 5, 7 and 8; reversed the trial court's order denying Erwin's demurrer as to counts 5 and 8; and reversed the trial court's ruling denying the demurrers as to count 11. The Court of Appeal also granted the demurrer as to count 1 to the extent it relied on charges for which demurrers had been granted. (Exh. A.) The issues raised in this Petition were presented to the Court of Appeal, so no Petition for Rehearing was filed. The People respectfully request this Court grant review.

ARGUMENT

I. CALIFORNIA'S OUTDATED BRIBERY JURISPRUDENCE
CONFLICTS WITH UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT
AUTHORITY AND IS INTERNALLY CONTRADICTORY,
RESULTING IN CONFUSION WHICH PREVENTS THE
EFFECTIVE PROSECUTION OF CRIMES AGAINST THE PUBLIC
TRUST

California's bribery law has failed to develop alongside evolving national legal standards. Specifically, California's application of Wharton's Rule to invalidate bribery and conspiracy charges conflicts with United States Supreme Court authority and every federal circuit court that has considered the issue. Further, conflicts within this Court's own jurisprudence create confusion as to whether a person who offers a bribe is immune from liability for aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe, even where his conduct would support such charges.

This is the right case for this Court to offer guidance on these important issues, and it comes at the right time. Although unpublished, this high-profile public corruption case is being closely watched, and will be used as a benchmark to inform the conduct of both public officials and those seeking to influence them as to what acts they can commit without subjecting themselves to prosecution. It is an important case to the citizens of California, involving the theft of \$102 million of public funds under circumstances which substantially undermine confidence in local government. And because the Court of Appeal's holding specifically limits the manner in which prosecutors can charge bribery crimes, it will have a chilling effect on public corruption prosecutions and cause the issue to evade review. Finally, the public policy concerns foreshadowed by this Court's prior holdings become a reality here, where the mastermind of a massive bribery scheme was given a free pass by the Court of Appeal, while his underling continues to face criminal liability for the identical conduct.

California's bribery law has not been meaningfully considered in more than half a century, and another half century may pass before the opportunity to do so arises again. In these hard economic times, where local governments are going bankrupt and individuals are struggling to stay afloat financially, California citizens are entitled to local prosecutors fully equipped with all available charging tools to fight against the theft of their tax dollars.

A. California's Application of Wharton's Rule to Aiding And Abetting Bribery Charges Conflicts With United States Supreme Court Authority And Every Federal Circuit Court That Has Considered the Issue

Count One charges Burum, Erwin and others with conspiracy to commit bribery, and counts four, five, seven and eight charge Burum and Erwin with aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe, based on allegations that, in addition to offering and paying bribes, "On or between January 1, 2005, and November 29, 2006, BURUM corruptly influenced members of the Board of Supervisors through a combination of threats, extortion, inducements and bribery in order to secure their vote in favor of a settlement." (CT 5.) It further alleges that "ERWIN joined the conspiracy, and conveyed various threats and/or inducements from BURUM to Postmus, BIANE and KIRK. ERWIN agreed to accept money in exchange for influencing the votes of POSTMUS and Biane." (CT 5.) Overt acts 5-14 set forth specific threatening and coercive acts Erwin and Burum committed in their efforts to overcome the resistance of Postmus and Biane, coerce them into accepting the bribes, and accomplish a settlement on the terms demanded by Burum. (CT 5-8.)

The Court of Appeal applied Wharton's Rule to invalidate the charges against Burum. Wharton's Rule is a doctrine of federal common law which provides, "An agreement by two persons to commit a particular crime cannot be prosecuted as a conspiracy when the crime is of such a nature as to necessarily require the participation of two persons for its commission. (*Ianelli v. United States* (1975) 420 U.S. 770, 775 [95 S.Ct. 1284, 43 L.Ed.2d 616].) (Exh. A, pp. 16-17.)

California's application of Wharton's Rule to bribery charges conflicts with United States Supreme Court authority. The Supreme Court has made it clear that Wharton's Rule has current vitality only as a judicial presumption, which applies only in the absence of a legislative intent to the contrary. Classic Wharton's Rule offenses such as adultery, incest, bigamy and dueling are characterized by a congruence between the agreement and the substantive offense. The parties to the agreement are the only persons involved in the substantive offense, the immediate consequences of the crime rest on the parties themselves and not on society at large, and the substantive offense is not likely to pose the kind of threat to society the law

of conspiracy seeks to avert. (Ianelli v. United States, supra, 420 U.S. at pp. 782-783.)

Citing *People v. Wolden* (1967) 255 Cal.App.2d 798, 803-804, the Court of Appeal applied Wharton's Rule in a manner inconsistent with the limited presumption authorized by the United States Supreme Court. (See Exh. A, p. 19.) This is not a case where the immediate consequences of the crime rest on the parties themselves, or where the agreement does not appear likely to pose the distinct kinds of threats to society that the law seeks to avert. (*Ianelli v. United States, supra*, 420 U.S. at pp. 782-783.) This \$102 million theft of taxpayer funds affected every taxpayer in San Bernardino. Moreover, even Burum's successful commission of each bribery charge would not have been enough to accomplish the goal of the conspiracy, as the agreement included an effort by all conspirators to influence Supervisor Gary Ovitt to vote in favor of the settlement to secure a total of at least three votes, but Ovitt is not alleged to have received a bribe.

Moreover, while the United States Supreme Court has stated that Wharton's Rule "has current vitality only as a judicial presumption, to be applied in the absence of legislative intent to the contrary," (*Ianelli v. United States, supra*, 420 U.S. at pp. 782-783), the California Legislature has indicated a clear intent to hold bribe offerers criminally liable to the same extent as those who receive bribes. (See, e.g., Pen. Code, § 165, [including both the offerer and receiver under a single statute], and Pen. Code, §§ 67, 68, 85, 86, [providing for punishment of two, three or four years for both the offerer and receiver of a bribe].) The indictment here alleges the bribe offerer used his enormous political power and financial resources to coerce the public officials into accepting his bribes. The statutory scheme offers no support for the court's decision to treat him more favorably than those who gave in to his pressure.

Additionally, Wharton's Rule does not apply where the conspiracy involves more persons than the substantive offense (*Ianelli v. United States, supra*, 420 U.S. at p. 782, fn. 15.) Here, the conspiracy charged four defendants and additional unnamed coconspirators. (See count 1, CT 3.)

While each bribery charge named the specific individual Burum aided and abetted in receiving the bribe, the alleged conspiracy was far broader than any individual bribery charge, as it named multiple parties not alleged to be bribe recipients, and involved a more complex goal than any individual bribery count. In other words, while the bribery charges involved Burum's efforts to coerce each specific board member, the conspiracy charge involved Burum's agreement with Erwin, Postmus, Biane and Kirk to obtain a favorable lawsuit settlement by securing the acceptance of his bribes by three or more voting members of the board.

California's application of Wharton's Rule to bribery charges conflicts with every federal circuit court that has considered the issue, which unanimously conclude Wharton's Rule does not apply to bribery (See, e.g., *United States v. McNair* (11th Cir. 2010) 605 F.3d 1152, 1215; *United States v. Bornman* (3rd Cir. 2009) 559 F.3d 150, 156; *United States v. Hines* (8th Cir. 2008) 541 F.3d 833, 838; *United States v. Morris* (7th Cir. 1992) 957 F.2d 1391, 1403.) California's application of Wharton's Rule to aiding and abetting charges conflicts with the Ninth Circuit's holding that Wharton's Rule does not apply to aiding and abetting (*United States v. Castro* (9th Cir. 1989) 887 F.2d 988, 996; *United States v. Huber* (9th Cir. 1985) 772 F.2d 585, 591-592.)

Finally, while the United States Supreme Court has said Wharton's Rule applies only where it is impossible under any circumstances to commit the substantive offense without cooperative action (*Ianelli v. United States, supra*, 420 U.S. at pp. 782-783), the Court of Appeal applied the rule to charges of receiving a bribe, although this Court has made it

clear that crime does not require cooperative action. (People v. Diedrich (1982) 31 Cal.3d 263, 273-274.)

Finally, under no circumstances does Wharton's Rule authorize a court to grant a demurrer as to both the conspiracy and bribery charges. Wharton's Rule is a merger doctrine which would prevent Burum's conviction for *both* the conspiracy and the underlying substantive charge, an election which could be made by the prosecutor or by appropriate jury instructions. (See *Ianelli, supra*, 420 U.S. at p. 775.)

B. There is a Conflict In California Law With Respect to Whether a Person Who Offers a Bribe Can Be Charged With Aiding And Abetting the Receipt of a Bribe

Relying on *Wolden, supra*, the Court of Appeal held that even though Burum was alleged to have used threats, menace, command or coercion to compel others to accept a bribe, he could not be charged with aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe because he was the bribe offerer. (Exh. A, p. 19.) Support for that proposition was found in cases from this Court dating back more than half a century. Those cases cannot be reconciled with subsequent developments in the law, and their continuing validity should be reexamined.

The court's holding turned on the following language from Wolden:

When one statute defines a crime which necessarily requires the participation of two or more persons, but fixes punishment for only one of them, and another statute separately provides that the other participant is guilty of a distinct crime, each is guilty of a criminal offense, but the offense of which each is guilty is separate and distinct from that of the other. It follows that the definitions of accessory, aider and abettor ([]§§31, 971) do not operate to subject either to prosecution under the section proscribing the act of the other, and neither falls within the code definition of an accomplice as to the act of the other. (*Id.*). Bribery is such a crime. The giver whose offense is specifically made a crime ([]§ 67) is not an accomplice in the separate and distinct crime of the receiver [citations].

That language comes from *People v. Clapp* (1944) 24 Cal.2d 835, 838. Subsequent decisions have gone to great lengths to distinguish *Clapp* or simply refuse to apply it, such that the case is of questionable validity. (See *People v. Buffum* (1953) 40 Cal.2d 709, 728 (Opinion of J. Schauer, concurring and dissenting), overruled on other grounds as stated in *People v. Morante* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 403.) *Clapp* conflicts with this Court's decision in *People v. Diedrich, supra*, 31 Cal.3d at pages 273-274, because *Clapp* says the crime of bribery requires two or more persons, while *Diedrich* says it does not.²

Wolden also relied on People v. Keyes (1930) 103 Cal.App. 624 (per curiam denial of review) and People v. Davis (1930) 210 Cal. 540, to conclude that the giver of a bribe cannot be charged with aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe, irrespective of the facts. (Exh. A, pp. 18-19.) In Keyes, this Court stated, without citation, that the giver and receiver of bribes are not guilty of a conspiracy because the two crimes require different motives. In Davis, this Court held that the giver and receiver of a bribe are not accomplices of one another, but an intermediary may be the accomplice of both. (Davis, at pp. 557-558.)

Wolden acknowledged the difficulty in reconciling those rules, and in this case, principles of equity and fairness weigh heavily in favor of reexamining the aforementioned cases. While the Court of Appeal found Burum's conduct in offering the bribe excused him from liability for his role in aiding and abetting the receipt of the bribes, it found no legal impediment to such liability for Erwin, an intermediary, whose acts were committed at Burum's direction and on his behalf. Thus, the mastermind

² *Diedrich* involved Penal Code section 165 as charged in counts 4 and 5. The same reasoning applies equally to counts 7 and 8 which charge violations of Penal Code section 86. (See *People v. Gaio* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 919, 928-929.)

was set free while his underling continues to face criminal charges. (cf. *People v. Athar* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 396, 403 [disfavoring an irreconcilable disparity in punishment for individuals committing similar offenses].)

The aforementioned cases also conflict with other decisions from this Court. This Court has made it clear that even where the law specifies separate crimes for participants in a criminal transaction, that separate treatment does not preclude aiding and abetting liability where the facts support it. (*People v. Lima* (1944) 25 Cal.2d 573, 579 [aiding and abetting liability appropriate for those involved in a conspiracy to steal and receive stolen property]; *People v. Wayne* (1953) 41 Cal.2d 814 [a person who solicits may, by his subsequent conduct, encourage, aid and abet another's solicitation and become a principal in the crime under Penal Code section 31].)

In *People v. Wallin* (1948) 32 Cal.2d 803, this Court found that a murderer was an accomplice to an individual charged with being an accessory after the fact to the murder. While her commission of the murder alone would not subject her to liability as an accessory after the fact, it did not follow that she could not become liable if she encouraged another to aid her to avoid arrest and punishment. (*Id.* at p. 806.) Here, similarly, even if Burum's conduct offering the bribe would not subject him to accomplice liability for aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe, it does not follow that he could not become liable based on his subsequent charged conduct of using threats and coercion to compel the recipients to accept the bribe.

In *People v. Hutchins* (1976) 61 Cal.App.3d 77, the Court of Appeal questioned the existence of a "rule" proposed by the defendant that, "where a statute defines an offense which necessarily involves joint action, but provides no punishment for the conduct of one of the participants, that participant cannot be charged as principal, coconspirator, or aider and abettor in the substantive offense committed by the other party." (*Id.* at p.

83.) The court found "no persuasive analogy" between situations where courts had exempted from punishment parties who were generally considered by society to be less morally blameworthy than the other party, and the facts of the case before it, which involved an attorney employing runners to solicit business for him. In the latter case, "the attorney is likely to be the instigator or manager of the scheme and is the person who profits financially from it." (*Ibid.*) That is exactly the case with Burum here.

This Court should grant review to clarify that whether a bribe offerer can be charged with aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe depends on the facts of the case. *People v. Lee* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 522, demonstrates that the issue involves a factual determination, even where a provision of law generally precludes accomplice liability.

In *Lee*, the defendant, a prison inmate, was convicted of conspiracy to furnish a controlled substance to a prison inmate based on evidence that the defendant, his wife and a prison employee had worked together to bring drugs into the facility. (*Lee, supra*, 136 Cal.App.4th at pp. 526-527.) The defendant claimed that as a prison inmate, he could not be charged with conspiracy to furnish controlled substances to a prison inmate. Specifically, he claimed the statutory language of the substantive offense expressly applied to non-inmates and therefore excluded him. Other statutes provided for lesser punishment for prison inmates, so applying the law of conspiracy to an inmate, he claimed, would run contrary to the express legislative intent. (*Lee, supra*, 136 Cal.App.4th at p. 529.)

The defendant relied on "narrowly drawn, interconnected exceptions" to the general rules regarding coconspirator liability to argue that he was not properly charged. (*Lee, supra*, 136 Cal.App.4th at p. 530.) One of those alleged exceptions derived from cases holding that "where the Legislature has dealt with crimes which necessarily involved the joint action of two or more persons and where no punishment is provided for the

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