In the

Supreme Court

State of California

SUPREME COURT

DEC 19 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

PAUL BIANE, MARK KIRK, JAMES ERWIN, JEFFREY BURUM,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL,
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO
CASE NO. E054422,
SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
CASE NO. FSB 1102102
HON. BRIAN MCCARVILLE, JUDGE

RESPONDENT JEFFREY BURUM'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ARENT FOX LLP STEPHEN G. LARSON (SBN 145225) MARY CARTER ANDRUES (SBN 138486) 555 WEST FIFTH STREET, 48TH FLOOR LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90013-1065 TELEPHONE: (213) 629-7400

FACSIMILE: (213) 629-7401

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

III. ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the California Rules of Court, the California Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision when "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subd. (1)(b).) The People fail to demonstrate that either of the issues raised in their Petition involve any split amongst the Courts of Appeal, or any important and unsettled question of law. As such, review is not appropriate and the Petition should be denied.

A. <u>Neither The Court of Appeal Below, Nor Any California Court Before It, Has Ever Applied Wharton's Rule to Bribery</u>

The central theme of the People's Petition is that the Court of Appeal below, and California courts generally, are out of step with federal law and modern bribery jurisprudence in applying Wharton's Rule to bribery. (See Pet., pp. 3-8.) The People contend that this Court should step in to override the California Legislature's carefully-crafted statutory scheme for punishing bribery, and more than 50 years of bribery jurisprudence, all in the name of modernizing California's supposedly

"outdated" bribery laws. This argument can be disposed of summarily based on one simple fact: Wharton's Rule is irrelevant, both to the decision in this case and to California bribery jurisprudence generally.

In affirming the trial court's dismissal of all bribery charges against Mr. Burum, the Court of Appeal did *not* rely on Wharton's Rule, but rather on the principle set forth in *Wolden*. (See Pet., Ex. A at p. 19.) Indeed, the Court of Appeal's single-paragraph passing reference to Wharton's Rule is nothing more than dicta.² (See *id.*, pp. 16-17.) And, to be clear, Wharton's Rule and the principle in *Wolden* are *not* the same. To the contrary, there are at least two fundamental differences between these two principles that further demonstrate why Wharton's Rule was not the basis of the Court of Appeal's unpublished ruling, and why review here is unnecessary.

First, Wharton's Rule *only* applies to conspiracy—it is inapplicable to aiding and abetting liability. As such, on a very basic level, Wharton's Rule literally could not have been the basis for the Court of Appeal's ruling, given that four of the five bribery counts dismissed were aiding and abetting charges. *Wolden*, on the other hand, focuses primarily on aiding and abetting—and, not surprisingly, it is *Wolden's* discussion of aiding and abetting liability that was adopted by the Court of Appeal. (Pet., Ex. A at pp. 15-19.) In essence, *Wolden* recognizes the legal principle that, for certain crimes necessarily involving two or more persons, the legislature intended that the participants only be found guilty of the "separate and distinct" act each personally committed—*i.e.*, one participant cannot "aid

¹ See *People v. Moreland* (1978) 81 Cal.App.3d 11, 17 ["[I]t is clear the courts cannot go so far as to create an offense by enlarging a statute, by inserting or deleting words, or by giving the terms used false or unusual meanings," quoting *People v. Baker* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 44, 50].

² Wolden never mentions Wharton's Rule. Nor did Mr. Burum suggest that Wharton's Rule applies to bribery, either in his appellate briefing or in his demurrer briefing in the trial court.

and abet" the other participant. (*Wolden*, 255 Cal.App.2d at 803-804.) The *Wolden* court held that "bribery is such a crime. The giver whose offense is specifically made a crime is not an accomplice in the separate and distinct crime of the receiver." (*Id.* at 804.) This plainly is *not* Wharton's Rule, and thus the People's claim that both *Wolden* and the Court of Appeal below applied Wharton's Rule is incorrect.

The Wolden court also addressed conspiracy liability, which leads to the second fundamental difference between these two rules. As recognized by Wolden – and by this Court in People v. Keyes (1930) 284 P. 1105, and Calhoun v. Superior Court In and For San Diego County (1955) 46 Cal.2d 18, 41-42 – the giver and the receiver of a bribe cannot conspire with one another because they have different intents. (Wolden, 255 Cal.App.2d at 804.) Wharton's Rule, on the other hand, recognizes that the participants in certain crimes that require two persons - e.g., abortion, bigamy - cannot be convicted of conspiracy because the Legislature has signaled that any conspiracy should be merged with the substantive offense, even though both participants have the same intent. (See People v. Mayers (1980) 110 Cal.App.3d 809, 815.) In other words, while Wharton's Rule is an exception to general conspiracy law, Wolden is consistent with, and indeed grounded in, one of the basic elements of a criminal conspiracy—namely, the requirement of common intent. Thus, the Court of Appeal below simply recognized - as this Court did in Keyes and Calhoun - that the basic elements of conspiracy preclude a conspiracy between the bribe giver and the bribe receiver.

These two fundamental differences also expose the fallacy behind the People's more general claim that California bribery law is somehow outdated, and that this Court's review is needed to remedy the problem. The People's argument is based entirely on the premise that California courts have applied Wharton's Rule to bribery. But, none of the bribery

cases cited by the Court of Appeal even *mention* Wharton's Rule. Rather, as discussed above, *Wolden*, *Keyes*, and *Calhoun* all involve a principle that is fundamentally different than that of Wharton's Rule. Moreover, there is not a *single* reported California case that has *ever* applied Wharton's Rule to bribery. Thus, far from being "outdated," California bribery law has been ahead of the curve in recognizing that Wharton's Rule is irrelevant to bribery.

In short, the People's entire argument is unsupported by the record and prevailing case law. Both this case specifically, and California bribery jurisprudence generally, are entirely consistent with modern conspiracy law and the federal precedent cited by the People—and thus review is unnecessary.

B. There Is No "Conflict in California Law" Regarding Accomplice Liability Between the Bribe Giver and Bribe Receiver

The People's second argument in support of review also fails to survive scrutiny. The People claim that there is a "conflict in California law" regarding whether the alleged giver of a bribe can be charged with aiding and abetting the receipt of the same bribe. (See Pet., p. 8.) Again, however, the People fail to identify a *single* case that has permitted – even implicitly – an alleged bribe giver to be charged with aiding and abetting, or conspiring with, the bribe receiver. The People fail to identify such a case because none exists.

Lacking any real "conflict" in the case law addressing this issue, the People instead cite to a number of cases addressing aiding and abetting liability for crimes other than bribery. (See Pet., pp. 10-12 [citing five cases not involving bribery].) The fact that courts have found other crimes to be subject to accomplice liability, however, does not create any conflict with the well-settled principle – recognized by this Court – that the bribe

giver and bribe receiver cannot aid and abet, or conspire with, each other. Rather, on this particular issue, there is a "uniformity of decision" amongst California courts. Indeed, the long-established rule set forth in *Wolden* is currently cited in authoritative legal texts such as the Judicial Council's criminal jury instructions for bribery and receipt of a bribe. (See Judicial Council of Cal. Criminal Jury Instructions (2010) CALCRIM No. 2600, Related Issues; see also Witkin & Epstein, Calif. Criminal Law (3d Ed.), ch. VIII, sec. 32 [explaining that bribe giver and bribe receiver are "distinct crimes"].) Further review by this Court, therefore, is unnecessary.

C. The People Fail to Identify Any Grounds for Review of the Court of Appeal's Correct Application of D'Amato

The second issue raised by this Petition involves the Court of Appeal's unpublished ruling that Mr. Burum cannot be charged with conspiring or aiding and abetting a violation of Government Code section 1090. According to the People, the Court of Appeal "misread" the decision in *D'Amato* and incorrectly held that Section 1090 is not subject to aiding and abetting liability. Contrary to the People's argument, the Court of Appeal did not misinterpret the holding in *D'Amato*. Rather, as reflected the opinion below, the court properly recognized – and agreed with – the holding in *D'Amato*.

Although it is difficult to recognize in the People's summary of the case, the pertinent holding in *D'Amato* is quite straightforward. After addressing the doctrine of separation of powers, the court held that "the Legislature's wording of section 1090 evinces the intent to exclude aider and abetter liability." (*D'Amato*, 167 Cal.App.4th at 873.) While the court went on to apply this holding to the specific facts in *D'Amato* (which involved an attempt to charge a fellow legislator with aiding and abetting a Section 1090 violation), the holding is equally applicable to the charges brought here, as the Court of Appeal explained below. After quoting

extensively from *D'Amato* (not just a single sentence, as the People imply), the Court of Appeal held:

We share our colleagues' view that the Legislature intended Government Code section 1090 to exclude criminal liability on either a conspiracy or an aiding and abetting theory for anyone other than public officials and public employees with a financial interest in the underlying contract. Neither defendant Burum nor defendant Erwin was a public official at the time alleged in the indictment. Therefore, the trial court should have sustained their demurrers to count 11, and to target crime 5 of count 1.

(Pet., Ex. A at p. 37.) Not only is this conclusion legally correct, it is completely uncontradicted—no other California decision has ever held otherwise. As such, there simply is no reason for this Court to grant review.

D. <u>This Unpublished Decision Will Have No Impact on Any</u> Pending or Future Public Corruption Cases

As a final effort to salvage their Petition, the People contend that review is needed because the decision below will somehow hamper effective prosecution of future public corruption cases. This argument is meritless. This is an *unpublished* decision and, as such, it has no precedential impact whatsoever. Thus, the People's fears that prosecutorial discretion will be impacted are unfounded.

Moreover, it is important to recognize the unique nature of the charges being dismissed by this decision. Mr. Burum's counsel has combed California case law for *any* post-*Wolden* case in which a bribe giver was charged with aiding and abetting or conspiring with the bribe receiver. No such cases have been found. Nor have *any* cases been found in which a private citizen was charged with aiding and abetting or conspiring with a public official to violate Government Code section 1090. Mr. Burum assumes that the People similarly have been unable to find any

such cases, as they most certainly would have cited these cases in their Petition in order to establish a split in authority.

The simple fact is that the People's charging scheme against Mr. Burum is the result of a unique confluence of factors, most notably the People's failure to charge Mr. Burum before the expiration of the statute of limitations for the crimes of giving or offering bribes. Thus, all that future prosecutors need do to avoid the result reached by the Court of Appeal here, like every other prosecutor post-*Wolden*, is to bring timely charges under the appropriate statute. While such charges against Mr. Burum would have been factually meritless, they at least might have survived demurrer. Instead, the People failed to bring timely charges against Mr. Burum, and the trial court and Court of Appeal properly rejected the People's attempt to plead around the statute of limitations by using an impermissible charging scheme.

IV. ADDITIONAL ISSUE FOR REVIEW

As set forth above, Mr. Burum does not believe that review of the Court of Appeal's opinion is necessary or appropriate. If the Court nevertheless grants review, Mr. Burum respectfully submits the following additional issue for review pursuant to rule 8.500(a)(2) of the California Rules of Court.

A. Issue Presented

1. Is Government Code section 9054 unconstitutional, either as void for vagueness or as an impermissible prior restraint on free speech?

B. Why Review Should Be Granted

Mr. Burum has been charged with conspiring to violate Government Code section 9054, which states in relevant part:

Every person who obtains, or seeks to obtain, money or other thing of value from another person upon a pretense, claim, or representation that he can or will improperly influence in any manner the action of any member of a legislative body in regard to any vote or legislative matter, is guilty of a felony.

As Mr. Burum has argued before both the trial court and the Court of Appeal, this statute – which does not appear to have ever been used in a published criminal case - is unconstitutionally vague. (See Grayned v. City of Rockford (1972) 408 U.S. 104, 108 ["It is a basic principle of due process that an enactment is void for vagueness if its prohibitions are not clearly defined."].) In particular, Section 9054 fails to provide any notice of what would constitute "improperly" influencing—as opposed to gardenvariety lobbying, an activity that has long received constitutional protection under the First Amendment.³ The Court of Appeal below disagreed, holding that "improperly influence" was not vague because it means "the use of personal, or any secret or sinister, influence upon legislators" as opposed to "the open advocacy of the same before the legislature or any committee thereof in open session." (Pet., Ex. A at pp. 34-35 [citing Crawford v. Imperial Irrigation Dist. (1927) 200 Cal. 318, 321-322].) This definition of "improperly influence" not only fails to cure the unconstitutionality of Section 9054, it creates further confusion regarding what conduct is prohibited under Section 9054.

³ See, e.g., F.C.C. v. League of Women Voters of Cal. (1984) 468 U.S. 364, 405 [recognizing that the "right to lobby is constitutionally protected," citing Regan v. Taxation with Representation of Wash. (1983) 461 U.S. 540] [Rehnquist, J., dissenting]; Marin v. Univ. of Puerto Rico (D. P.R. 1973) 377 F. Supp. 613, 627 [invalidating as vague university regulations barring "improper or disrespectful conduct in the classroom"]; J.L. Spoons, Inc. v. City of Brunswick (N.D. Ohio 1998) 181 F.R.D. 354, 357-58 [finding a rule "overbroad on its face" because it "employs several extraordinarily vague terms, including 'improper'..."]; United States v. Poindexter (D.C. Cir. 1991) 951 F.2d 369, 378-79 [noting that the term "improper" may actually be "less specific" than the unconstitutionally vague term "corruptly"].

Under the Court of Appeal's interpretation, the statute remains unconstitutionally vague in that no guidance is provided as to what would constitute "secret" or "sinister" influence. More importantly, the Court of Appeal's interpretation directly criminalizes modern lobbying. For example, a former legislator would run afoul of Section 9054 if he was hired based on a representation that he would meet personally with his former colleagues in the Legislature -e.g., at a dinner or through a private meeting at their offices – to lobby for particular legislation. As such, should this Court grant the People's Petition, it also should grant review of this important constitutional issue to confirm that Section 9054 cannot be used to criminalize a broad range of constitutionally-protected activities.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

As set forth above, the People fail to identify any legitimate or legally cognizable reasons why this Court should grant review of the Court of Appeal's entirely correct decision. Instead, the People misrepresent the Court of Appeal's holdings, as well as California case law generally, in an attempt to manufacture a basis for reviewing the Court of Appeal's opinion. The Court should reject this unsupported and meritless Petition for Review.

Respectfully submitted,

Dated: December 18, 2012

ARENT FOX LLP

By:

Stephen G. Larson Mary Carter Andrues

Attorneys for Respondent

JEFFREY BURUM